1989

Hurt v. Hurt : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This Court is authorized by Section 78-2A-3(h), Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended) to hear this appeal from the First District Court for Box Elder County. This is a divorce or domestic relations case.

NATURE OF THE PROCEEDING

This is a consolidated appeal.

This is an appeal from a final judgment of the Honorable Gordon J. Lowe, Judge of the First District Court of Box Elder County in a civil action for divorce, paternity, property division, and child support. It is also an appeal from a subsequent order to show cause which was signed by Judge Low to enforce child support provisions of the divorce decree.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the trial court err in admitting blood tests into evidence on the issue of paternity where other blood tests had

come to a different conclusion?

2. Did the trial court err in determining that the Appellant was the father of the child despite conflicting evidence?

3. Did the trial court err in awarding back child support at a time when it was without jurisdiction to do so under Utah law?

4. Did the trial court err in failing to make proper findings of fact established under Utah case law before it awarded child support?

5. Did the trial court abuse its discretion and award excessive child support under circumstances where the Appellant's income was not properly calculated?

6. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in making a property distribution that failed to take into account the fact that the Appellant had \$5,000 worth of equity in the family home?

DETERMINATIVE AUTHORITY

Kofford v. Flora, 744 P.2d 1343 (Utah, 1988) establishes stringent standards for the admissibility of HLA blood testing in paternity actions. Appellant contends that under this case, the tests used should not have been admitted in this case.

Under Sather v. Gross, 727 P.2d 212 (Utah, 1986), Peters v. Peters, 394 P.2d 71 (Utah, 1964) a court's decision is not effective until an order is signed. Appellant contends that the trial court had no jurisdiction to award temporary child support between the period of the time that

the court ruled in Respondent's favor and the time that an order was actually signed.

Under Johnson v. Johnson, 103 UAR 22 (Utah, 1989) the trial court was required to make specific findings of fact before awarding child support.

Under Paryzek v. Paryzek, 110 UAR 46 (Utah, 1989), a trial court's property division in a divorce may be overturned if the court abuses its discretion.

DISPOSITION IN THE TRIAL COURT

A trial was held in this case on September 26, 1988 before the Honorable Gordon J. Low in Brigham City, Utah. Judge Low ruled that Appellant was the father of one of the Respondent's children. Judge Low held that sufficient grounds existed for the divorce. Judge Low awarded child support and back child support. Judge Low granted future child support in the amount of \$387 per month in favor of the Respondent. Judge Low distributed the marital property and debts in such a manner that Appellant's equity in his home was not taken into consideration. The decree of divorce is attached to this brief as an addendum.

Judge Low subsequently granted an Order to Show Cause in favor of Respondent awarding back child support. This was appealed from separately. The appeals have since been consolidated. A copy of this order is attached to this brief as an addendum.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent sued Appellant for paternity and divorce in the First Judicial District Court in Box Elder County. As part of the paternity action, Respondent called Dr. Charles Dewitt to testify concerning HLA and ABO blood testing which had been done in this case. T.13 Dr. Dewitt ran blood tests in 1988 on the Appellant, Respondent, and a child Kathy Heyden. From these tests, he gave an opinion during the trial that the Appellant was Kathy Heyden's father. T.20

On cross examination, Dr. Dewitt revealed that in 1979, he had been called upon to do blood tests to establish paternity for Kathy Heyden. In 1979, the results of the tests Dr. Dewitt ran were much less certain. In fact, they were only 89% probable. T.25 Dr. Dewitt himself testified that this was insufficient for admission as evidence. T.25 A previous paternity action against the Appellant was dismissed in 1979. T.98

Including Kathy Heyden, Respondent had a total of three children. It was alleged that Appellant was only the father of Kathy. He was never alleged to be the father of the other children. The other children were apparently born out of wedlock as well.

During the trial Respondent testified that she worked at Thiokol and earned an hourly wage of \$11.40. Her net take-home pay per month was \$1,473.64. T.57 She also received about four

hours overtime per month because of her work schedule. T.58

Respondent and Appellant bought a home for \$59,500. This home was foreclosed on by Western Mortgage in January of 1989. T.62,63. Respondent moved out of the family home in October of 1987. Respondent resided in the home with her children. Appellant had been forced to move out of the home. Respondent made her last house payment in August of 1987. T.66

A real estate broker appraised the home at \$65,000. This left equity of approximately \$5000. T.84 Respondent refused to surrender possession of the home to Appellant unless he gave her \$2000. Respondent also failed to make payments on the home for her last several months of occupancy. T.85 Appellant testified that he would have been able to keep the home if Respondent had vacated the premises before back mortgage payments accumulated. After Respondent and Appellant separated, it took Appellant approximately seven months to obtain possession of the home again. At this point, he was simply unable to make up all the back mortgage payments. T.100,101 The home was sold by Western Mortgage at a foreclosure sale. T.108

The Appellant also works at Thiokol. He has an income of \$14.97 an hour. He currently receives very little overtime. However, in 1987 he had considerable overtime because of an accident which killed five people and caused considerable property damage at Thiokol. T.111

The court found the Appellant to be the father of Kathy

Heyden. T.135 The court than ordered the Appellant to pay child support of \$387.00. T.144 The figure of \$387.00 was obtained as an average from an income which varied from \$2,594 per month to \$3,771.00 because of overtime in 1987. Court records establish that the Appellant's overtime was indeed temporary and is not ongoing. R.137-141 Appellant is not getting significant overtime anymore. Back child support was awarded from August 1987 through October 1988 at \$458.00 per month. The court refused to find that there was any equity in the family home.

The trial court signed a memorandum decision on October 13, 1988 awarding back child support and future child support. However, it was not until January 18, 1989 that the Court signed a Decree of Divorce. A Notice of Appeal was filed by Appellant from this decree and order on February 15, 1989.

On April 3, 1989, Respondent filed an Order to Show Cause. She wanted immediate payment of the back child support. The trial court signed an order requiring payment. Appellant appealed from this order. The Notice of Appeal is dated April 14, 1989.

These appeals have been consolidated for purposes of judicial economy.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Utah Supreme Court has realized the dangers of allowing any new scientific evidence into a court of law. There must be guarantees that the evidence is thoroughly understood and is

reliable. This is particularly the case when evidence consists of statistical probabilities. It is hard for a trier of fact to objectively weigh numerical evidence against eyewitness testimony, photographs, and descriptive evidence. Therefore, in a case where HLA test results differ depending on the test, the court should refuse to receive the results into evidence. Any other result would be prejudicial to the Appellant.

The undisputed evidence in this case was that there was equity in the family home prior to the date it was lost in a foreclosure sale. Such evidence came from an appraisal, the purchase price of the home, and the Appellant's testimony. Consequently, it was wrong for the trial court to find that no equity existed in the home.

The trial court erred when it considered temporary overtime earnings of the Appellant in computing the amount of child support he should pay his child. This is particularly essential when Appellant's actual earnings (base pay) are only two-thirds of what his earnings mixed with temporary overtime turned out to be.

The trial court had no jurisdiction to grant Respondent's order to show cause or to award any BACK child support. This because a statute divests the trial court of jurisdiction over a matter once it is appealed. Additionally, orders are only effective from the date they are signed.

ARGUMENT

POINT I: THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN ADMITTING THE BLOOD TESTS AND THE TESTIMONY BY DR. DEWITT IN LIGHT OF EARLIER CONFLICTING TESTS

The Utah Supreme Court has spoken concerning the use of HLA and other blood testing during paternity lawsuits. Specifically, the court has expressed the view that such tests are inadmissible in paternity cases unless they are extremely reliable and appropriate safeguards are observed.

In *Kofford v. Flora*, 744 P.2d 1343 (Utah, 1987), the Utah Supreme Court held that in order to be admissible as evidence during a paternity trial that HLA and ABO blood tests must have a 95% or greater statistical probability of paternity. This is after the assumption is made that there is already a 50% prior probability of paternity. Additionally, the court held that evidence must be produced that the particular tests which were relied upon in the case were conducted in a reliable manner. Specifically, such tests must be conducted as specified by Standards for Parentage Testing Laboratories as developed by the American Association of Blood Banks or other equally reliable sources.

HLA blood testing is still a test of relatively recent origin. As late as 1980, the Utah Supreme Court held that it had not been proven to be of sufficient reliability to be used as evidence on the issue of paternity. *Phillips v. Jackson*, 615 P.2d 1228 (Utah, 1980). While this is no longer the case, it is

certainly evidence of the fact that HLA testing is still new and in its infancy. Great caution must be exercised with anything new.

The harm that can result from a mistaken finding of paternity is obvious. This is stated in a recent Utah Law Review article. Here, the author stated:

In a paternity action, the defendant is faced with the imposition of a life-long relationship with significant financial, legal, and moral dimensions. Unlike any other civil judgment, the establishment of a parental relationship has the potential to set in motion a process of engagement that is powerful cumulative, and whose duration spans a lifetime. [U.L.R., 1988, P.717]

In the case at bar, the Appellant had previously been given HLA blood tests in 1979 to determine whether he was the father of Kathy Heyden. These earlier tests came up with an 89% probability of paternity. Such tests would not have been admissible under the Kofford decision.

Tests run on the Appellant in 1988 indicated a 99% probability of paternity. Appellant contends that it was prejudicial, misleading, and confusing to the trier of fact to admit the more recent blood tests into evidence in light of the conflicting results from the earlier tests. The chance for confusing the trier of fact (judge) is great when one is dealing with scientific evidence. Appellant submits that in any case where conflicting tests are done that HLA testing results should not be received into evidence. There is something about

statistical or numerical evidence that is particularly dangerous in a court. It is very difficult to weigh such evidence along with eye witness testimony, photographs, and descriptive evidence. Appellant asks that this court hold it was prejudicial error to admit the 1988 blood test result into evidence along with Dr. Dewitt's testimony.

POINT II: THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION WHEN IT FAILED TO HOLD THAT THERE WAS EQUITY IN THE FAMILY HOME AND GIVE THE APPELLANT CREDIT FOR SAID EQUITY

Prior to their separation and divorce, Appellant and Respondent had purchased a home for \$59,900 in Brigham City, Utah. This home was appraised by a real estate agent as being worth \$65,000. Appellant testified (as an owner of the property) that there was probably \$5000 worth of equity in the home before the house payments became delinquent and foreclosure occurred.

Despite this evidence, the trial court found that no equity existed in the home. The house was purchased during Appellant's and Respondent's marriage. Therefore, any equity which would have accrued in the home should be split equally between the two.

The evidence presented at this trial established that the home was foreclosed upon and all its value has been lost to Appellant and Respondent. This occurred because Respondent failed to make several months worth of house payments during her sole occupancy of the home in August 1987. Respondent literally refused to allow Appellant to move back into the dwelling until

months of unpaid mortgage payments were due. Consequently, the home was foreclosed upon by Western Mortgage.

Under Utah law, a trial court is given discretion in awarding property in a divorce action. *Paryzek v. Paryzek*, 110 UAR 46 (Utah, 1989). However, the court's ruling will be overturned if there is an abuse of discretion.

Appellant contends that it was an abuse of discretion to fail to find that there was equity in the family home at the time of the divorce. All evidence pointed to the contrary. Respondent admitted in her testimony that a real estate broker appraised the property at \$65,000. Appellant testified that it was a nice home. He gave his opinion as a property owner that there was \$5000 equity. The uncontroverted evidence shows that the home was purchased for \$59,900.

Assuming that there was \$5000 equity in the home, Appellant should be credited for one-half this amount of \$2500. We ask that the court either modify the decision to give Appellant credit for this equity or that the case be reversed and remanded to the trial court to hear further evidence concerning the value of the equity in the home.

POINT III: THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN
AWARDING \$387.00 PER MONTH IN CHILD SUPPORT

The trial court applied the Utah Child Support Guidelines in determining that Appellant should pay \$387.00 per month in child support. [U.C.A. 78-45-7.14] The trial court committed error

because it improperly calculated the Appellant's monthly income.

Evidence produced at trial indicated that Appellant regularly earned \$14.97 per hour. Under the Utah Uniform Child Support Guidelines, a Appellant would be required to pay \$332.00 per month to support one child. However, during the year preceding the divorce, Appellant was able to work a great deal of overtime at Thiokol. This was because of an accident which killed five employees and caused considerable property destruction. T.111

The court calculated that Appellant had a base pay of \$2500 per month. However, with overtime he was actually earning \$3,700.00 a month in the year preceding the divorce. The court averaged these two figures and set monthly child support at \$387.00

It is a fact that Appellant's overtime has virtually come to an end. T.111, R.135-141 Consequently, his base pay of \$2500 per month is what the trial court should have used to determine his child support. Failure to base the child support award on the \$2500.00 base income will work a grievous and unfair hardship upon Appellant.

Appellant also contends that the Child Support Guidelines did not actually go into affect until July 1, 1989. Under old Utah law, the trial court was required to make certain findings of fact prior to awarding child support. The trial court made findings of fact. However, they are insufficient.

In *Jeffries v. Jeffries*, 752 P.2d 909 (Utah, 1988), the Utah Court of Appeals reversed a child support award because the trial court failed to make detailed findings of fact prior to awarding child support. This was mandated by U.C.A. 78-45-7, before it was amended. The court stated in this case that:

Section 78-45-7 requires the trial court to consider at least the seven factors listed therein. Further, those factors constitute material issues upon which the trial court must enter findings of fact. In this case, however, the trial court failed to enter findings on all of the factors. [752 P.2d at 911]

The factors enumerated by U.C.A. 78-45-7, prior to its amendment were:

- (a) The standard of living and situation of the parties;
- (b) The relative wealth and income of the parties;
- (c) The ability of the obligor to earn;
- (d) The ability of the obligee to earn;
- (e) The need of the obligee;
- (f) The age of the parties;
- (g) The responsibility of the obligor for the support of other parties;

In the instant case, the only findings of fact with relevance to child support concern the amount of the Appellant's and Respondent's income. No findings of fact with speak to standard of living, wealth, or the age of the parties. R.117-128

Other cases suggest such findings are/were necessary. *Johnson v. Johnson*, 103 UAR 22 (Utah, 1989).

Failure to make these findings mandates reversal of the child support award.

POINT IV: THE TRIAL COURT HAD NO JURISDICTION TO AWARD ANY CHILD SUPPORT PRIOR TO JANUARY 18, 1989

The trial court signed a memorandum decision in this case on October 13, 1988. However, no Decree of Divorce was signed until January 18, 1989. On February 15, 1989, Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal and appealed this case. On April 3, 1989, Respondent filed an Order to Show Cause attempting to enforce payment of back child support. The trial court ruled in favor of Respondent and made an order compelling Appellant to pay the back child support. Appellant appealed from this order on April 15, 1989. The back child support in question is from August of 1987 through January of 1989 (when the Decree of Divorce was signed).

Quite simply, the trial court was without jurisdiction to make such an order either in the decree or in a subsequent order to show cause. In *Peters v. Peters*, 394 P.2d 71 (Utah, 1964) the Utah Supreme Court held:

It is true that the main judgment is a final and appealable judgment as to the issues therein dealt with. When those questions as to divorce, custody of children, support money, alimony, and/or property rights are therein adjudicated and an appeal is taken, the district court is without further jurisdiction as to them. [394 P.2d 73]

It is true that the court has jurisdiction to provide for the support and maintenance of the children during an appeal. UCA 30-3-5. However, such jurisdiction does not extend to enforcing a BACK child support order dated before the decree of the divorce is signed.

Additionally, the Appellant simply cannot be held liable for BACK child support before a decree of divorce is signed. In this case the decree was signed January 18, 1989. This is because of Utah Code Annotated 30-3-7. This section states:

The decree of divorce becomes absolute on the date it is signed by the court and entered by the clerk in the register of actions or at the expiration of a period of time the court may specifically designate, unless an appeal or other proceedings for review are pending...

Thus the decree of divorce in this case became a final judgment on the date it was signed as stated in the above section of the Utah Code. See also Sather v. Gross, 727 P.2d 21 (Utah, 1986). Pate v. Marathon Steel, 692 P.2d 765 (Utah, 1984). Wisden v. City of Salina, 696 P.2d 1205 (Utah, 1985). It follows that the court cannot direct the Appellant to pay any amount of support prior to the date the decree and findings were signed by the court. The only back child support that Appellant could be responsible for would be that owing AFTER the decree was signed on January 18, 1989.

Consequently, the court must reverse the trial court's award of back child support. It must also reverse the trial court's

subsequent order to show cause which was granted in favor of the Respondent.

CONCLUSION

The Utah Supreme Court has reluctantly allowed statistical evidence from HLA-ABO blood testing to be received in lawsuits for paternity. The court has imposed rigid standards upon the trial courts before this evidence can be received. These standards require that the testing be done in accordance with specific procedures and rules. Additionally, the tests must show at least a 95% probability of paternity. In the instant case, it was prejudicial error to admit a recent test which had results considerably different from similar testing done ten years before. Sufficient guarantees of reliability and accuracy were not present. Therefore, the Court of Appeals must reverse the finding of paternity.