1989

Hurt v. Hurt : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. This Court will not disturb the findings of the Trial Court unless there is a clear abuse of discretion in a domestic relations case.

2. The Trial Court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the blood tests and the testimony of Dr. De Witt in light of earlier tests, in determining paternity in the Appellant.

3. The Trial Court did not abuse its discretion in finding that there was no equity in the family home.

4. The Trial Court did not commit reversible error in awarding \$387.00 per month in child support under the law then in effect.

5. The Trial Court did have jurisdiction to award child support prior to January 18, 1989.

6. If the Appellant's appeal is frivolous or for delay, Respondent is entitled to damages including reasonable attorney's fees, and if the judgment is affirmed, Respondent is entitled to costs against the Appellant.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THIS COURT WILL NOT DISTURB THE FINDINGS OF THE TRIAL COURT UNLESS THERE IS A CLEAR ABUSE OF DISCRETION IN A DOMESTIC RELATIONS CASE.

The standard for reviewing matters in equity was recently considered the the Utah Supreme Court in J & M Const., Inc., v. Southam, 722 P.2d 779 (Utah 1986), wherein the Court held as follows:

In reviewing matters in equity, this Court will reverse the Trial Court only [emphasis added] when the evidence clearly preponderates against the findings below. Although we may review that evidence, we are particularly mindful of the advantage position of the Trial Court to hear, weigh, and evaluate the testimony of the parties. (Cites omitted) Where the evidence may be in conflict, this Court will not upset the findings below unless the evidence so clearly preponderates against them that this Court is convinced that a manifest injustice has been done...

The Court of Appeals of Utah in the recent decision of Boyle v. Boyle, 735 P.2d 669 (Utah App. 1987), held as follows:

This Court will refrain from disturbing findings of the Trial Court in a divorce action unless a clear abuse of discretion is shown. (Cites omitted) The Trial Court is clearly in the best position to weigh the evidence, determine credibility and arrive at factual conclusions...

A review of the facts in this case from the trial record and the Memorandum Decision clearly indicate that there has been no abuse of discretion nor a manifest injustice and this Court should refrain from disturbing the findings of the Trial Court as in this case it was clearly in the best position to weigh the evidence, determine credibility and arrive at factual conclusions, which it did.

POINT II.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING THE BLOOD TESTS AND THE TESTIMONY OF DR. DE WITT IN LIGHT OF EARLIER TESTS.

The recent Utah Supreme Court case of Kofford v. Flora, 744 P.2d 1343 (Utah 1987), as cited by the Appellant is the authority in the State of Utah in regards to a determination of paternity by the admission of HLA blood tests. Kofford requires as follows:

...Based on the foregoing and other authorities, we hold that only probabilities of paternity of 95% or greater should be admitted. Furthermore, a percentage figure in the range above 95% may be translated for the fact finder into language that is more meaningful to the task at hand, such as "paternity is very likely". (Cites omitted)

When probabilities of paternity in a particular case are based, for example, on the assumption that the mother had more than one consort, in addition to the putative father, the probability should not be admitted to prove paternity unless the statistics have similar significance in proving paternity.

In the immediate case at hand, Dr. De Witt specifically testified as referred to in the Statement of the Case, that the probability of paternity for the Appellant for the child, Kathy Heyden, with the mother, the Respondent, that the probability of paternity is 99% slightly more and that that represents a reasonably high degree of probability. Dr. De Witt further testified under both direct and cross-examination that the 1979 test included the probability of 89% but that that would be inadmissible as evidence under the Kofford case cited above because it did not show a probability of 95% or greater. The specific reason for the difference between the 89% and the 99% was the fact that six separate additional tests were run and that the testing is now more reliable than that previously done in 1979.

In his opening statement, the Appellant's counsel and the Court discussed the issue of res judicata in regards to bringing up new test scores, Exhibit 4 and the evidence submitted from the parties prior Utah case, for which the tests were done show a dismissal without prejudice so that in fact there has been no adjudication as to the paternity of the Appellant for the minor child and a question as to whether or not this matter is an issue subject to res judicata or collateral estoppel is not even raised as it has not been previously litigated.

Dr. De Witt specifically testified that the 89%, 1979 test, could not be admissible as being unreliable under the Kofford decision but that under the testing done more recently in 1988 and the 99% probability factor , Dr. De Witt, after having been qualified as an expert by stipulation, felt there was a 99% probability that the Appellant was the father of Kathy Heyden. The testimony and evidence are in full compliance with the requirements of Kofford, supra, running contrary to Phillips v. Jackson, 615 P.2d 1228 (Utah 1980) which is no longer applicable under the Kofford standards.

While the Respondent concedes that the recent Utah Law Review article cited in the Appellant's Brief is correct, the citation therein does not lend any weight to showing

prejudicial error of the Trial Court. The Appellant failed to object to the admissibility of the expertise of Dr. De Witt, his testimony, and the methodology used in arriving at his decision of the 99% probability.

Additionally, uncontroverted testimony was given by the Respondent that she had not had sexual relationship with any other parties at the time of conception, negating the necessity of other further testimony as to the reliability of the high probability of parentage or paternity in the Appellant, and testing of other parties.

While the Appellant is correct in requesting this Court to enforce rigid standards and requirements as spelled out in Kofford, a thorough review of the record, lack of objection by the Appellant, lack of other sexual activity occurring around the time of conception and the testimony of Dr. De Witt fully complies with the strict requirements as set forth by the Utah Supreme Court in Kofford v. Flora, and this Court should find no abuse of discretion and affirm the finding of paternity by the Trial Court.

POINT III.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN FINDING THAT THERE WAS NO EQUITY IN THE FAMILY HOME.

The parties did purchase a home for \$59,900.00 in Brigham City, Utah, which was given a fair market value of approximately \$65,000.00 as testified to by the Respondent with the further caviat that the parties would be lucky to derive that amount of money from the sale of the home. Testimony of the Respondent would further substantiate that this fair market value assessment was made around October of 1987, at the time the Respondent moved from the home after a two to three week temporary occupancy of the home which was temporarily awarded to the Respondent after the separation of the parties in August of 1987.

This Court in the recent case of Narangjo v. Narangjo, 751 P.2d 1144 (Utah App. 1988), in regards to a judicial review of a Trial Court's division of properties in a divorce action held as follows:

There is no fixed formula upon which to determine a division of properties in a divorce action, cites omitted, the Trial Court has considerable latitude in adjusting financial and property interests, and its actions are entitled to a presumption of validity (cites omitted). Changes will only be made if there was a misunderstanding or misapplication of the law resulting in substantial and prejudicial error, the evidence clearly preponderated against the findings, or such a serious inequity has resulted as to manifest a clear abuse of discretion. (cites omitted). Additionally, it is commonly recognized by this Court that marital properties are valued at the time of the trial.

In the immediate case at hand, testimony was offered by the Respondent that she moved out of the home in October of 1987, listed the home for sale, and the home ultimately in January or February was foreclosed upon.

The Trial Judge made a specific findings of fact on page 136 of the transcript which can be used to supplement the actual findings of fact prepared by counsel under the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 52(a) and Erwin v. Erwin, 108 UAR 55 (May 12, 1989). The transcript in this case reads at page 136 "seems to me the testimony was somewhat of a offhanded appraisal regardless of whether it was \$62,000.00 or \$65,000.00 if the house was sold in a commercial sale, and there would be at least a 6% or 7% fee against that, would reduce it to \$60,000.00. There is approximately \$59,000.00 owing against it. I see if there's any equity at all, it's probably \$1,000.00 or less. Even if it were valued at \$65,000.00. If it were valued at \$62,000.00, there would be a negative equity. I can't find any equity in that property at all, and the fact that there was a problem with the Plaintiff in possession and vacating the same, doesn't seem to me that it would have been a particle of difference as to the division of equity had the property still been in the possession of the parties and awarded to the Plaintiff or to the Defendant, I would have

found no equity to be awarded, I simply would have said you can have the property, I find no equity."

The Trial Court had within its discretion the authority to consider the realtor's fees as found in the recent case considered by this Court of Asper v. Asper, 753 P.2d 987 (Utah App. 1988) wherein this Court found that the Aspers had agreed to the value of the home and the equity in it and "the deduction of anticipated real estate charges seems to be reasonable as each party was charged with half of those charges." It further found that in the distribution of marital estate, there is no fixed rule or formula... The responsibility of the Trial Court is to endeavor to provide a just and equitable adjustment of their economic resources so that the parties might reconstruct their lives on a happy and useful basis. This Court found that the Trial Court in Asper had reasonably divided the marital property taking into consideration those realty fees.

Even if this Court were to find that the Trial Court had not properly taken into consideration potential realtor's fees in finding no equity, the actual value of the marital home at the time of the trial could have very well been a negative value or a deficiency because of the foreclosure that had been commenced eight or nine months earlier.

The Trial Court did not abuse its discretion in finding no equity in the marital home as none existed under one of two theories, either the value of the home at the time of the trial, or the fact that with the deduction of properly considered realty fees there would have been no equity and there has been no abuse of discretion by the Trial Court and the Trial Court's decision in regards to the equity of the marital home should be affirmed.

POINT IV.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR IN AWARDING \$387.00 PER MONTH IN CHILD SUPPORT UNDER THE LAW THEN IN EFFECT.

The Utah Code Annotated § 78-45-7 prior to its amendment did require a Trial Court to consider at least seven factors listed therein in arriving at a child support award consisting of:

- (a) The standard of living and situation of the parties;
- (b) The relative wealth and income of the parties;
- (c) The ability of the obligor to earn;
- (d) The ability of the obligee to earn;
- (e) The need of the obligee;
- (f) The age of the parties;

(g) The responsibility of the obligor for the support of other parties.

The Trial Court did consider these factors in its Memorandum Decision in finding that both parties were employed, that the Plaintiff receives an income of approximately \$2,000.00 per month, that the Defendant's income was a base pay of \$2,594.00 a month, but that his income to date of September 4, 1988, had been in the sum of \$30,925.88 or an average of \$3,771.00 per month. The Trial Court further found that testimony was also offered that the overtime has decreased and is not expected to be at the same level it was of the first eight months of the year. The Court then found that under the Uniform Child Support Schedule, the child support level for one child on the Defendant's base pay would be \$316.00 per month but under the Appellant's historical income it would be \$458.00 per month."

The Trial Court then found that "the Appellant also had other children, no known child support obligation was shown to exist for them, found that should in the future child support obligations be assured for those children then additional children would be considered for child support adjustment."

Finally, the Trial Court found that the Court was unable to conclude based on the evidence whether the income

of the Appellant will likely continue at the \$3,700.00 per month level or the \$2,500.00 per month level so that the Court will take an average of those based on the Child Support Schedule at an amount of \$387.00 and that the Appellant would be ordered to pay that sum.

The Trial Court then found that should the Appellant in the future be able to assert to the Court that his income was not commensurate with the child support level of \$387.00 a month but remained at the base pay of \$2,594.80, then he could petition the Court for a reduction of the child support as provided by law and also that the Plaintiff could move to increase the child support should the income continue at the historical levels.

The Court did assess the requirements enumerated in Utah Code Annotated § 78-45-7 and did enter specific findings therein which can be supplemented to the Findings of Fact prepared by the parties under the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 52(a).

The Trial Court further granted in its findings and in explanation as allowed under the Utah Code Annotated § 30-3-5 that if at any time due to the continuing jurisdiction of the Trial Court there should be a substantial change in circumstances such that the income of the Appellant should decrease or increase then due to that continuing

jurisdiction the Court could modify the award of child support. The final award was one as to a discretionary decision of the Judge due to the historical earnings of the Appellant up to the time of the trial and a question as to whether or not those earnings would drop off resulting in a figurative splitting of the baby with options open to either party to increase or decrease that child support amount in the future.

Appropriate Findings of Fact through the Memorandum Decision were found by the Trial Judge in ascertaining the award of child support and in taking into consideration Utah Code Annotated § 78-45-7.14 which is used as rebuttable Child Support Guidelines.

In regards to the awarding of back child support in the paternity action, Utah Code Annotated § 78-45a-3 of the Section entitled "Uniform Act on Paternity" specifically designates limitation on recovery from the father in a paternity action and states:

The father's liability for past education and necessary support are limited to a period of four years next proceeding the commencement of an action.

In the immediate case at hand, in October of 1987 an Order to Show Cause was commenced by the Plaintiff/Respondent for recovery of child support which was left open to a future determination of paternity and the original

action was filed in August of 1987 such that an award of child support back to that date would be in compliance with the Utah Code Annotated § 78-45a-3.

Based on the above and foregoing, the Trial Court did not commit reversible error in awarding \$387.00 per month in child support but did properly consider the factors enumerated in the Utah Code Annotated § 78-45-7 in arriving at a halfway mark between the evidence actually presented and the possibility of a reduced amount of income in the future with an unnecessary but obvious note by the Trial Judge that either party under the continuing jurisdiction of the Trial Court could petition the Court for a modification for either an increase or decrease depending on future events, all which is within the sound discretion of the Trial Court.

POINT V.

THE TRIAL COURT DID HAVE JURISDICTION TO
AWARD CHILD SUPPORT PRIOR TO JANUARY 18,
1989.

Appellant's Point IV essentially addresses two different issues, although not quite understandable by Respondent. Issue one would deal with whether or not the Trial Court has jurisdiction to either enforce or modify the Decree of Divorce and Issue two would seem to revolve around whether or not the Trial Court can backdate or award child support

retroactive before the January 18, 1989, Decree of Divorce entry.

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